ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THOMAS RAYNES MARETT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002017

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1.) The trial judge erred in denying counsel's pretrial motion to dismiss and the motion for a directed verdict on the offense of obtaining property by false pretenses charged against appellant since the checking account on which the post-dated check was drawn was closed because there was no evidence of any intent to defraud presented in the case as the deposit for payment was submitted prematurely and there was no evidence presented establishing that the account would have been closed on the future date placed on the post-dated check.
- 2.) The trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury on the law regarding post-dated checks to the extent that per State v. McCutcheon, 282 S.C. 524, 327 S.E.2d 372 (1985), the same is a promise to pay at a future date and not a crime of obtaining property by false pretenses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Thomas Raynes Marett was convicted of obtaining property by false pretenses per jury trial held during the September, 2013 term of the Spartanburg County General Sessions Court before Judge R. Keith Kelley. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of five years, suspended upon the service of six months and five years probation. Mary Stuart Lyles represented appellant at trial, and Assistant Solicitor Brittany Scott appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant appealed his trial court conviction and sentence. This brief follows.

QUESTION I

The trial judge erred in denying counsel's pretrial motion to dismiss and the motion for a directed verdict on the offense of obtaining property by false pretenses charged against appellant since the checking account on which the post-dated check was drawn was closed because there was no evidence of any intent to defraud presented in the case as the deposit for payment was submitted prematurely and there was no evidence establishing that the account would have been closed on the future date placed on the post-dated check.

Appellant was indicted for and convicted of obtaining property by false pretenses. The state's case consisted of the testimony of three witnesses: Greg and Kim Ballenger, owner and manager of Refrigeration Services, Inc., respectively, and Sheila Henderson, who was the county's worthless checks program director. At trial, Greg and Kim Ballenger testified that appellant received their services on July 14, 2011, which included an inspection by their technician of his (appellant's) heating and air unit at his residence, and the installation of a new unit on that same date. Then, the check for payment, which was written on July 14, 2011, by appellant and post-dated for August 14, 2011, was presented on July 18, 2011, for payment by the Ballengers, but returned because of insufficient funds. Tr. 65, l. 14 – p. 76, l. 23; Tr. 86, l. 7 – p. 89, l. 25. Thereafter, Sheila Henderson issued four letters to appellant requesting payment of the funds owed to the Ballengers. Tr. 103, l. 6 – p. 113, l. 1. Note that appellant did not testify at trial.

In the case at bar, services were rendered to appellant by the company on July 14, 2011, but appellant's check issued for payment on July 14, 2011, was a post-dated check dated August 14, 2011. This post-dated check was prematurely submitted (twenty seven days in advance) for deposit on July 18, 2011, when it should have been sent through thirty one days later on August 14, 2011, as such was the post date for submission written on the post-dated check in question.

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to dismiss the charge of obtaining property by false pretenses lodged against appellant as there was no proof of intent to defraud because the post date written on the post-dated check evidenced a future promise to pay at a later date. Thus, had the post-dated check been timely submitted, then the issue would have been the status of the account (open or closed) on the day of submission. Tr. 23, l. 3-p. 29, l. 11. The state argued that the check was written by appellant on a closed account so there was no intent or promise to ever pay the amount owed. Tr. 29, l. 16 – p. 33, l. 18. The court denied the motion to dismiss because the account on which the check was written was closed and thus concluded that the post-dated check was not a check at all, but rather a written instrument instead. Tr. 35, l. 16 – p. 36, l. 10; Tr. 42, l. 23 – p. 43, l. 15. Defense counsel’s response to the court’s refusal to dismiss the charge follows:

The Court: It’s a promissory note?

Defense Counsel: It’s a promise to pay. That’s all this was, was a promise to pay. I don’t –it’s a piece of paper that says, “I promise to pay you this amount.” And also the fact is, is that, if they had waited until that date to find out if it was good if it was not good, we would be sitting here in court with no defense. And he was not given the chance to make his promise to pay well. They turned around four days later cashd a check that is not legal in the State of South Carolina. That piece of paper is a promise to pay...whether it was an open account whether he had a million dollars in it or not, was a non-legal piece of paper...So if he had a million dollars in that account and they cashed it and it went through well, then, we would still have an issue because he did not agree, by posting dating it, to let them cash it.

The Court: That [was] a closed account at the time he wrote the writing.. it is not a check it is not a post-dated check.
Tr. 37, l. 14 – p. 38, l. 4; Tr. 42, l. 23 – p. 43, l. 2.

In other words, the status of the checking account (open or closed) on the day on which the services were rendered or the day of the premature submission of the bank did not matter as the

issue would have been the status of the account (opened or closed) in the future, i.e. on the date on the post-dated check, which promised future payment.

The court denied the motion to dismiss. Tr. 44, l. 3. Counsel moved for a directed verdict at the close of the state's case and at the end of the case. Tr. 123, l. 12 – p. 126, l. 12; Tr. 186, lines 13-25.

In McCutcheon, the defendant made a future promise to deliver a payment for gasoline via a post dated check to be cashed in the future i.e., upon the future delivery of the gasoline and then upon the future sale of the gasoline. In other words, the defendant, who was the purchaser that issued the post-dated check, intended for the future delivery at the future date, which was reflected on the post-dated check given to the seller. The post-dated check was proof that the amount (also based on the future resale of the gasoline) would be available for redemption on that post-dated appointed (future) time. The conversation between the buyer and seller in McCutcheon was to the effect that the gasoline “would be delivered” and that he (buyer) “would be in a position to handle it,” all of which indicted future tense, which was in keeping with and consistent with the future post dated check. The McCutcheon Court defined false pretense as “a fraudulent representation of an existing or past fact by one who knows it not to be true,” and held further that:

...a promise to do something in the future cannot constitute the basis of a prosecution for obtaining goods under false pretenses. A postdated check is a promise to pay at a future time. State v. Winter, 98 S.C. 294, 82 S.E. 419 (1914).

Similarly, in the case at bar, appellant's signature on and his issuance of the post-dated check clearly referenced his intent to make good on the amount on the check at a later date, i.e., the date written on the post-dated check, as this indicated his obligation to comply with his promise in the future. Thus, appellant's post-dated check evidenced no fraudulent representation of an existed

fact. Since the record is devoid of any evidence regarding an agreement in reference to the post-dated check and future payment, then the inference is that there was a mutual understanding of this future agreement to pay later as evidenced by appellant's post-dated written check. Tr. 116, lines 1-8. Also, there was no fraudulent intent to defraud on appellant's behalf because there was no evidence that the money would not have been available or the account not opened on the date that appeared on the post-dated check. Appellant's intent was to cover the amount in the future. Sans this element of fraudulent intent, there was no proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt on the offense of obtaining property by false pretenses, and thus appellant's conviction on the same violated his right to due process of law guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article 1, 3 of the South Carolina State Constitution. Due process requires that the prosecution must prove every element of the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979). The trial judge erred in denying appellant's pretrial motion to dismiss the indictment and his directed motions, which meant his conviction was obtained in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment..

QUESTION II

The trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury on the law regarding **post-dated checks** to the extent that per State v. McCutcheon, 282 S.C. 524, 327 S.E.2d 372 (1985), the same is a promise to pay at a future date and not a crime of obtaining property by false pretenses.

Prior to trial, trial counsel made the following jury charge request:

Defense Counsel: So, you know, in these cases, it allows for a jury instruction to be issued at the end if the jury finds that it's a post-dated check then, they can find my client not guilty. ..Or are you, at this time, finding that this is not a

check; that, that cannot be an issue in our case at all whether or not it's post-dated?

The Court: Well, let me ask you this: In those cases (McCutcheon) was there an underling account that was open?

Defense Counsel: Well, that's not brought up in the case law (i.e. McCutcheon). It doesn't say...they don't ever get to that point. All these cases talk about is it was a post-dated check.

The Court: Okay. At this point, the Court is making a finding; a clear, bright line rule that, if that's what you need – and I know it is...that it is not a check period. Tr.44, l. 20 - p. 45, l. 14.

The trial judge did not explain to the jury that a **post-dated check** is a promise to commit a future act and does not qualify as a check submitted under false pretenses. See Court's exhibit #1 (jury instructions). Tr. 183, lines 4-5.

In keeping with the ruling that the writing on the paper in this case was not a check, the trial judge merely instructed the jury that “a promise to do something in the future cannot constitute a basis for prosecution for obtaining goods under false pretenses” sans any additional words as requested to the effect that a post-dated check would have qualified as the equivalent of a promise to do something in the future and thus yielded no basis for prosecution as the jury might have disagreed with the trial judge's classification of this commercial paper and viewed the written instrument as a check.