ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-002017

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

THOMAS RAYNES MARETT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 07 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

have occurred, the date on which the crime was alleged to have occurred, the identity of the victims of the crime, and the elements of the offense for which Appellant was charged phrased in a manner consistent with the language of the relevant statute. Under those circumstances, the indictment was legally sufficient to provide Appellant with all the notice he was entitled to under the law, and there was no proper ground warranting the dismissal of the facially-valid indictment. See Edwards v. State, 372 S.C. 493, 496, 642 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2007) (“[A]n indictment is a notice document. The primary purposes of an indictment are to put the defendant on notice of what he is called upon to answer, *i.e.*, to apprise him of the elements of the offense and to allow him to decide whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and to enable the circuit court to know what judgment to pronounce if the defendant is convicted.” (italics in original)); see also State v. Jacobs, 238 S.C. 234, 243, 119 S.E.2d 735, 739-740 (1961) (“An indictment is ordinarily sufficient if it is in the language of the statute.”).

In arguing on appeal the trial judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment, Appellant contends – just as he contended during trial – the indictment should have been dismissed because the evidence allegedly established he had no fraudulent intent in light of the fact he post-dated his check. Critically though, such an argument relates to the sufficiency of the evidence and **not** to the sufficiency of the indictment itself. As a result, that argument is irrelevant to the sufficiency of the indictment and – even assuming it was somehow correct – would not have entitled Appellant to a dismissal of the facially-valid indictment issued in his case. See Garrett, 305 S.C. at 206, 406 S.E.2d at 912 (“Garrett has not claimed, either in the circuit court or in this Court, that the indictment in question is not sufficient on its face. His exception seems to be based on a misunderstanding of the function of a motion to quash. The exception is wholly without

merit.”); see also State v. Sweat, 221 S.C. 270, 272, 70 S.E.2d 234, 235 (1952) (holding a motion to quash the indictment raised on the ground the victims identified in the indictment did not actually own the property stolen was properly denied because the indictment was facially valid and because the motion – if treated as a motion for a directed verdict since it went to the sufficiency of the evidence – was out of order and premature). For those reasons, the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s motion to dismiss or quash the indictment. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

B. Propriety of the Trial Judge’s Denial of the Directed Verdict Motion

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). The trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992); see State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955) (“[O]n a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is his duty to submit the case to the jury if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”).

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is **any** direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the

accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). "[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law." State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

The offense of obtaining property by false pretenses occurs when a person by false pretense or representation either obtains the signature of a person to a written instrument or obtains from another person any chattel, money, valuable security, or other real or personal property with the intent to defraud a person of that property. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-240 ("A person who by false pretense or representation obtains the signature of a person to a written instrument or obtains from another person any chattel, money, valuable security, or other property, real or personal, with intent to cheat and defraud a person of that property is guilty [of the offense of obtaining signature or property by false pretenses.]"). Thus, the statutory elements necessary for commission of the offense are: (1) obtaining a person's signature or property; (2) by false pretense or representation; (3) with the intent to defraud. Id.

" 'A false pretense is such a fraudulent representation of an existing or past fact by one who knows it not to be true, as is adapted to induce the person to whom it is made to part with something of value.' " State v. Haines, 23 S.C. 170, 173 (1885). Notably, "a mere promise to do something in the future, as for example, to pay for goods at a future time, even if false, is not such a pretense as would come with the terms of the [obtaining property by false pretenses] statute." Id. However, "the combination of a false promise

with the false representation of an existing or past fact will not take the case out of the statute[.]” Id.

In the case at bar, Appellant – as shown by the evidence presented during trial – obtained a heat pump from the victims. In doing so, Appellant expressly agreed to pay the victims in full for the heat pump after it was installed, and he personally signed a work order memorializing the terms of that agreement in order to induce the victims to install the heat pump at his home. Then, after obtaining the heat pump from the victims, Appellant presented a document that was falsely represented to be a check, which was one of the forms of payment the victims accepted, to them as the payment he owed them for the heat pump. However, the document was **not** an actual check because Appellant did not have an account with the bank upon which the check was purported to be drawn, and the victims did not receive the agreed-upon payment for the heat pump from Appellant despite the fact he had obtained the heat pump from them.³ See Haynes v. Bank of Hartsville, 152 S.C. 135, 138-139, 149 S.E. 330, 331 (1929) (“A check is an order upon the bank to pay the amount of the check due on deposit account of the drawer[.]”). Thereafter, in the ensuing days, months, and years, Appellant did **not** ever pay the victims for the heat pump even though efforts were made to obtain payment from him both before and after the date listed on the purported check had been reached and passed. See S.C. Code Ann. § 34-11-70 (“When a check, a draft, or other written order is not paid by the drawee because the maker or drawer did not have an account with or sufficient funds on deposit with the bank . . . and the maker or drawer does not pay the amount due on it, together with a service charge of thirty dollars, within ten days after

³ During trial, defense counsel conceded the purported check presented as payment to the victims was not an actual legal check. (R. pp. 19-21). Instead of describing it as a check, defense counsel analogized Appellant’s purported check to “a scribbly piece of paper” reflecting a promise to pay some amount in the future. (R. p. 20).

written notice has been sent by certified mail to the address printed on the check . . . , then it constitutes prima facie evidence of fraudulent intent against the maker. . . . A certificate by the payee that the notice has been sent as required by this section is presumptive proof that the requirements as to notice have been met, regardless of the fact that the notice actually might not have been received by the addressee.”).

Based on the evidence and testimony establishing those facts, the jurors could fairly and logically find Appellant obtained the victims’ heat pump by falsely promising to pay for it upon its installation and then presenting them with a false representation of a check drawn on a closed checking account with the intent to defraud them of that property without ever actually paying for it. Cf. State v. Love, 275 S.C. 55, 63, 271 S.E.2d 110, 113 (1980) (“There is contained in these promises the implied representations or pretense that he could do the things promised. This pretense of authority or ability constituted a representation or pretense of fact . . . and supports the charge of obtaining goods under false pretenses. . . . By falsely pretending that he was in a position to aid Dennis in evading prosecution and the penalties for driving under the influence, and by obtaining his money for that purpose, appellant was guilty of obtaining the money by false pretenses.” (citation omitted)). Under those circumstances, the evidence and testimony presented during trial established Appellant’s guilt for all of the elements of the offense of obtaining property by false pretenses, and the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion and submitted the case to the jury. See Nix, 288 S.C. at 496, 343 S.E.2d at 629 (“**[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment**, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” (emphasis added)).

In arguing to the contrary, Appellant contends there was no evidence of fraudulent intent on his part or of a fraudulent representation of a past or existing fact because the purported check he presented to the victims was post-dated and, thus, constituted a future promise to pay instead of a false representation of actual payment to the victims. (App. Br. pp. 7-8). However, as the Supreme Court explained in State v. Winter, 98 S.C. 294, 298, 82 S.E. 419, 420 (1914), a post-dated check “would only mean a promise on the part of the drawer to do a future act and have funds in the bank at the future time stated in the check” **if** the “check was dated ahead, and it was expressly stated at the time it was passed that the drawer had no funds in the bank[.]”⁴ Significantly, the testimony presented during Appellant’s trial did **not** establish Appellant drew the victims’ attention to the fact the purported check was post-dated or expressly stated to them he did not have an open account with the bank upon which the purported check was drawn.⁵ Instead, the testimony established the exact opposite was true with Henderson testifying the R.S.I. employee who received the purported check from Appellant directly informed her he did **not** reach an agreement with Appellant for payment to be made in the future and was not even aware the purported check was post-dated. See generally State v. Hammond, 498 N.W.2d 126, 129 (1993) (recognizing the fact a check was post-dated serves as a defense to a fraudulent check charge only when the payee **knowingly** received the post-dated check). As a result, Appellant’s presentation of what was

⁴ Notably, in State v. McCutcheon, 284 S.C. 524, 525, 327 S.E.2d 372, 372 (Ct. App. 1985), which is the case primarily relied upon by Appellant during trial and on appeal, this Court cited to the Supreme Court’s decision in Winter to support its conclusion a post-dated check is a promise to pay at a future time.

⁵ Tellingly, Appellant has not even attempted to contend on appeal there was evidence establishing the victims knew of the post-dated nature of his purported check or agreed to accept it with the knowledge it was post-dated. Instead, Appellant maintains “the record is devoid of any evidence regarding an agreement in reference to the post-dated check and future payment[.]” (App. Br. p. 8). However, testimony was presented during trial clearly establishing the person who received the purported check from Appellant was not aware it was post-dated and had not agreed to accept a future promise of payment in exchange for the heat pump. (R. p. 99).

purported to be a check but was actually “a scribbly piece of paper” drawn on a closed checking account to the victims as the payment he agreed to give them upon the completion of the installation of the heat pump constituted a false pretense or representation with the intent to defraud them of their property.⁶ See State v. Dickinson, 339 S.C. 194, 201, 528 S.E.2d 675, 678 (Ct. App. 2000) (“Because the state’s evidence showed that Dickinson violated the statute’s express terms by making false representations as to his address and uttering a check which he had grossly insufficient funds to cover, thereby gaining actual possession of a new truck from Dealer, the trial judge properly submitted the case to the jury.”). Accordingly, as the evidence and testimony presented during trial established Appellant’s guilt for every element of obtaining property by false pretenses, and the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion.⁷ Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

⁶ Significantly, the victims expressly testified they only accepted checks, cash, credit cards, and approved financing as forms of payment and, therefore, Appellant would not have been able to obtain the heat pump from them unless he provided them with what at least appeared to be one of those accepted forms of payment. (R. pp. 49-51; p. 72; p. 79).

⁷ Critically, if Appellant’s contentions in his case were correct, it would mean an individual with an empty or closed checking account could obtain goods from another with the fraudulent intention to never pay for those goods by merely deceptively using a post-dated representation of a check as payment for the goods without any risk of being held criminally liable for his fraudulent actions. See State v. Stone, 95 S.C. 390, 394, 79 S.E. 108, 109 (1913) (“[I]f [a previous appellate] decision must be construed as holding that a false representation of the soundness of a horse, made with knowledge of the fact that the horse was unsound, with intent to cheat and defraud [was not a crime], then it will not be longer regarded as authority for that proposition; such a doctrine would tend to encourage fraud and swindling, and is against the canons of morality.”). Such a result would be entirely incompatible with the underlying purpose behind the obtaining property by false pretenses statute and must be rejected.

II.

Any issue with the trial judge's failure to give a jury charge instructing a post-dated check constitutes a promise to pay at a future date and cannot support an obtaining property by false pretenses conviction was not properly preserved for appellate review where defense counsel did not request such a charge at an appropriate time during trial, never obtained a ruling from the trial judge in regard to such a charge, affirmatively stated the trial judge's proposed jury instructions were fine before they were given, and directly indicated she had no objection to the jury instructions after they were presented to the jury. However, even assuming the issue somehow had been preserved for appellate review, the trial judge committed no error in failing to give the post-dated check jury charge Appellant now desires because the jury instructions that were given correctly and completely advised the jury of the South Carolina law applicable to Appellant's case while adequately covering the substance of Appellant's desired charge in a legally-correct manner.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by failing to instruct the jury a post-dated check is a promise to pay in the future and cannot support a conviction for obtaining property by false pretenses. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains he requested such a charge prior to trial but the trial judge erroneously failed to give it. Initially, any issue with the trial judge's failure to give such a charge was not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not request such a charge at an appropriate time pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, did not object to the jury instructions after they were given, and did not obtain a ruling from the trial judge in regard to the desired charge. Moreover, defense counsel waived any issue with such a charge by specifically indicating to the trial judge his proposed jury instructions were "fine" and then confirming she had no objection to those instructions after they were given. However, even assuming the issue somehow had been preserved for appellate review, the trial judge's jury instructions do not warrant the reversal of Appellant's conviction because they constituted a correct and complete statement of the South Carolina law applicable to Appellant's case and adequately covered the substance

of Appellant's desired charge without misstating the law in regard to post-dated checks. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

A. Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, the issue must be: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). "Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000); see also State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) ("Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object to the charge, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal."). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

In addition to the general requirements of South Carolina's issue preservation rules, the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure also provide specific guidance in regard to raising and preserving an objection to a jury charge. See Rule 20, SCRCrimP (outlining the requirements for requesting jury instructions and objecting to a jury charge). Pursuant to our criminal procedure rules, a defendant must object to the jury charge as given or request an additional charge when afforded the opportunity to do so in

order to properly preserve an objection to a charge. State v. Stone, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985); see Rule 20(a), SCRCrimP (“All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of the evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.”); Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection.”). The rule in South Carolina “is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.” State v. Williams, 266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976); see Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.”). “[T]he right to have the law declared may be waived by the parties and, ordinarily, silence in the face of an omission from, or error in the charge amounts to waiver.” Williams, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43.

In Appellant’s case, any issue with the trial judge’s failure to give a jury charge instructing a post-dated check “is a promise to commit a future act and does not qualify as a check submitted under false pretenses” was not properly preserved for appellate review. (App. Br. p. 9). Appellant failed to preserve the issue because he never requested such a charge at an appropriate time during trial, never objected to the trial judge’s jury instructions as given, and never obtained a ruling from the trial judge in regard to such a charge. See State v. Hall, 253 S.C. 294, 295, 170 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1969) (“The defendant did not raise the objections to the instructions at the trial although full opportunity was afforded to do so The failure of the defendant to object or request

additional instructions, when opportunity was afforded, constituted a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of errors in the charge.”). Instead, during a pre-trial discussion of Appellant’s motion to dismiss the indictment, defense counsel simply stated “it is error not to let the . . . jury know that . . . if they find it is a post-dated check, then, the client is not guilty of the charge” before conceding such an issue “obviously would become a later issue in the case if it did make it to the jury[.]” (R. p. 11). Critically, those remarks did not constitute a proper and timely request for a jury instruction pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, and, even if they somehow could be construed as a proper request, were not ruled upon by the trial judge. See Rule 20(a), SCRCrimP (“All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of the evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.”); see also Williams, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43 (“The rule in this State is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.”). As a result, Appellant’s appellate issue with the trial judge’s failure to give the post-dated check jury instruction he now desires was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be addressed on appeal. See State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 564, 735 S.E.2d 525, 526 (Ct. App. 2012) (“It is well settled that issues not raised and ruled on in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”).

However, even assuming the issue somehow had been properly preserved for appellate review through defense counsel’s pre-trial remarks, any issue with the desired post-dated check jury instruction still could not appropriately be raised or addressed on appeal because defense counsel expressly waived the issue during trial. See State v. O’Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised

objection can be waived). Critically, following an off-the-record discussion with the trial judge in regard to the jury instructions he intended to present to the jury, defense counsel explicitly stated on the record the trial judge's proposed instructions were "fine." See State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) ("A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced."). Then, after the trial judge presented those "fine" instructions to the jury, defense counsel confirmed her acceptance of the instructions given by specifically stating she had no objections to the jury charge. See State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding Brown's issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge he had no objection to the instruction); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) ("Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, 'None.' By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal."); see also Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) ("When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review."); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Dicapua's sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had 'no objection.' We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape."). Accordingly, in light of the facts defense counsel advised the trial judge his jury instructions were fine before they were given and directly

affirmed she had no objections to them after they were given, any issue defense counsel may have had in regard to the trial judge's jury instructions was expressly waived, and Appellant is precluded from now raising such an issue on appeal. Cf. Pauling, 322 S.C. at 100, 470 S.E.2d at 109 ("Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object to the charge, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal."). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

B. Propriety of the Trial Judge's Jury Instructions

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